IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

SID J. WHITE SEP 7 1990 CASE NO. 76,483 Debuty Clerk

v.

- 19 S

DAVID COUPE, et al.,

Respondents.

## ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL, FIRST DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

## PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

JAMES W. ROGERS BUREAU CHIEF CRIMINAL APPEALS ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 325791

CHARLIE MCCOY ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 333646

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (904) 488-0600

COUNSEL FOR PETITIONER



#

### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This appeal does not address the merits of the cases. It seeks a constitutionally acceptable balance between a defendant's right to a meaningful appeal and society's right to a criminal justice system not thwarted, in part, by unnecessary appellate court labor. The State respectfully suggests this balance should be reached through rulemaking that specifies general procedures for "<u>Anders</u> <sup>1</sup> appeals", just as this Court has specified general procedures for appeals from summary denial of postconviction relief.

When discussed collectively, Respondents will be referred to as such, otherwise they will be noted by their last name. Petitioner will be referred to as the State. The record in each case incorporates the transcript of proceedings before the trial court, so that all citations to the record will show the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> <u>Anders v. California</u>, 386 U.S. 738, 87 S.Ct. 1396, 18 L.Ed.2d 493 (1967).

Respondent's name followed by "R" and the page number. Note that the pages in each appendix have been re-numbered; the new numbers do not necessarily correspond to the original.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The posture of this appeal reflects the commonalities of the three consolidated cases. Coupe pled no contest to two counts of fraudulent use of a credit card (Coupe R 78); and Williams, to second degree murder and aggravated child abuse (Williams R 3). Fennell was convicted for possession of a firearm by a convicted felon (Fennell R 27).

<u>Anders</u> briefs were filed by each Respondent's appointed counsel. Counsel generally stated that no good faith, meritorious argument could be brought against the convictions and sentences.

Significant to this appeal, all Anders briefs included substantive argument as to secondary issues raised by sentencing: Coupe and Fennell, as to costs imposed without notice; Williams, to delay between sentence pronouncement and filing of as departure reasons. Fennell also argued the propriety of evidence as to past use of aliases. The State moved to strike the "no merit" portions of each brief. When the respective deadlines for pro se initial briefs passed, the State moved to preclude their and Williams. The State filing in Coupe emphasized the impropriety of "dual representation".<sup>2</sup>

The First District consolidated disposition of the State's motions and denied them. However, the court certified the following question of great public importance:<sup>3</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> In the order under review, the First District also granted Fennell permission to file a <u>pro</u> <u>se</u> initial brief (slip opinion, p. 4).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The court also concluded the question appeared to expressly affect a class of constitutional officers (slip opinion, p.4).

[W]hat, if any, issues may be raised by counsel for appellant in an initial brief without losing appellant's right to the <u>Anders</u> procedure, including permission for appellant to serve his own pro se brief and an examination of the entire record by the appellate court for the existence of reversible error. (slip op., App. A, p.3).

The challenged opinion was issued July 25, 1990. (See App. A). The State invoked this Court's discretionary jurisdiction, to review questions certified to be of great public importance, by notice served on August 9, 1990.

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

For clarity, the State will present the facts of each case separately. Given that no Respondent directly challenged his conviction, the facts admitted or adduced into evidence are not recounted.

#### Coupe

Coupe pled nolo contendere to two counts of fraudulent credit card use (Coupe R 78). He received five years imprisonment for Count I, followed by five years probation for Count II (Coupe R 80-2). Court costs, fines, restitution and a payment to "First Step, Inc." were imposed as probation conditions (Coupe R 82, items 9-12).

Appellant counsel filed an <u>Anders</u> brief (App. B, p.1-13) as to the propriety of Coupe's plea; no challenge to most terms of his sentence was made. Nevertheless, the <u>Anders</u> brief argued (App. B, p.11) that the statutorily mandated court costs and one <u>written</u> probation condition (payment to First Step, Inc.) were improperly imposed.

- 4 -

The State moved to strike the <u>Anders</u> portion of Coupe's initial brief on the grounds that mixed briefs were improper and that dual representation through double-briefing would occur. (<u>See App. B, p.14-17</u>). The motions panel of the First District deferred the State's motion to strike to the panel on the merits. (<u>See App. B, p.19</u> [order dated May 25, 1990]).

Significantly, Coupe had already been authorized to serve a pro se initial brief (See App. B, p.18 [order dated April 26, That order did not direct Coupe's appellate counsel to 19901). withdraw and did not authorize further pro se participation by Coupe. The court's May 25th order re-stated Coupe's opportunity to serve a pro se initial brief. Coupe failed to do so. The State then moved to preclude filing of the pro se brief. (App. B, p.20-23). That motion was denied in the challenged order, with no deadline for service of the pro se brief. [Note: The court's order of April 26th allowed Coupe only 30 days to serve his initial brief. The challenged order was issued July 25th, or two months after the deadline].

#### Williams

Williams pled<sup>4</sup> no contest to second degree murder and aggravated child abuse (Williams R 3), for killing a 20-month old infant entrusted to his care. (Williams R 44). He received a departure sentence of life imprisonment. (Williams R 5). The departure reasons - infancy of victim and Williams' position of custodial authority or control - were announced at sentencing on

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The plea was allowed only because the arresting officer suffered a severe stroke and could not testify (Williams R 43).

May 30, 1989 (Williams R 47), and filed in written form only three days later (Williams R 10).

Counsel's amended initial brief (App. C, p.1-12), invoked <u>Anders</u> and conceded no error had been made as to the reasons for departure and length of sentence. It did, however, argue (App. C, p.10) that resentencing was required due to the court's failure to provide contemporaneous written departure reasons.<sup>5</sup>

The State <u>answered</u> (App. C, p.13-24) the second issue in its brief served January 19, 1990. Nevertheless, the First District authorized a <u>pro se</u> initial brief, apparently on <u>both</u> issues, by its order dated April 10, 1990. (<u>See App. C, p.25</u>). Williams was given 30 days to serve his brief. A month after that deadline, the State moved to preclude filing of the <u>pro se</u> brief, on the grounds that Williams did not comply with the court's order. (<u>See</u> App. C, p.26-28). That motion was denied in the challenged order.

#### Fennell

Fennell was tried and found guilty for possession of a firearm by a convicted felon (Fennell R 31), and sentenced to five years in prison (Fennell R 33). The initial brief submitted by counsel invoked <u>Anders</u>, but expressly argued that evidence of aliases Fennell used while a juvenile was "improper". (App. D, p.14). It further stated that the State "in no way showed how

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Williams was sentenced May 30, 1989 (Williams R 47). Therefore, this issue has been resolved against him. <u>Ree v.</u> <u>State</u>, 15 F.L.W. S 395 (Fla. July 19, 1990) (requirement of simultaneous departure reasons prospective only). Except for its value as an example of <u>Anders</u> appeal procedures used by the First District, <u>Williams</u> could be severed and remanded for consistent proceedings.

the use of an alias was relevant to the possession of a firearm". (App. D, p.15). It also objected to imposition of mandatory costs without notice.

The State moved (App. D, p.18-23) to strike the <u>Anders</u> portion of counsel's initial brief, specifically because of the argument on the evidentiary issue as well as imposition of costs. Further, the State's motion raised the problem of dual representation, and the First District's policy of not allowing appointed counsel to withdraw. (<u>See</u> App. D, p.19-20). The challenged opinion (App. A, p.4) denied the State's motion and authorized Fennell to file a pro se initial brief.

### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Respondents seek the best of both worlds: to obtain court review of the record by filing an <u>Anders</u> brief, and to argue substantive issues under the guise of "referring to anything in the record that might arguably support the appeal".<sup>6</sup> By allowing substantive argument in nominal <u>Anders</u> briefs and authorizing <u>pro</u> <u>se</u> initial briefs on the same issues, the First District has exceeded the requirements of <u>Anders</u> and allowed unreasonable dual representation. The First District has abused its discretion. The resulting confusion and delay unfairly disadvantages the State's interest in prompt disposition of meritless appeals. The procedures followed in the consolidated cases are improper "special practice requirements"<sup>7</sup> that must be discontinued.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> <u>Anders, supra,</u> 386 U.S. at 744, 18 L.Ed.2d 498.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>'</sup>See In Re Order of First District Court of Appeals Regarding Brief Filed in Forrester v. State, 556 So.2d 1114, 1117-1118 (Fla. 1990) (disapproving procedures requiring discussion between appellate counsel, trial counsel, and defendant as "inflexible and intrusive") [hereinafter "In Re Forrester"].

#### ARGUMENT

#### ISSUE

## WHETHER ARGUMENT ON THE MERITS PRECLUDES ANDERS REVIEW PROCEDURES IN CRIMINAL APPEALS

## A. Abuse of Discretion

The three Respondents were adjudicated guilty; two after pleas, one after conviction. Each appointed counsel filed a brief, relying on <u>Anders</u>, to conclude that no meritorious arguments could be raised as to the issues considered "primary."

Not content to trigger the court's duty to independently review the record, <sup>8</sup> each counsel argued additional issues on the Coupe complained that \$454.00 in statutorily mandated merits. costs were imposed without notice; and that a special probation condition, not included in the sentence as pronounced, was improperly shown in his sentence as written. (App. B, p.11). Williams argued that the 3-day delay between pronouncement and filing of his departure sentence reasons required resentencing under this Court's first opinion in Ree v. State.9 (App. C, p.10). Fennell strongly argued that evidence of his past use of aliases was "improper" as evidence of prior crimes or for impeachment (App. D, p.14-15), as was imposition of court costs without notice (id., p.15).

Several errors in the opinion below become apparent. First, the Williams brief (arguing <u>Ree</u>) and <u>Fennell</u> brief (arguing

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> <u>See Anders</u>, 386 U.S. at 744: "[T]he court - not counsel - then proceeds, after a full examination of all the proceedings, to decide whether the case is wholly frivolous." [e.s.]

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> 14 F.L.W. 565 (Fla. November 16, 1989).

issues of evidence and costs) <sup>10</sup> did much more than "identify sentencing errors" (App. A, p.4). Therefore, these briefs should not have been accepted as invoking <u>Anders</u> review, even under the rationale of the challenged opinion.

Second and very important, the inclusion of substantive argument in the briefs unavoidably concedes that some "legal points [are] arguable on their merits". <u>Anders</u>, 386 U.S. at 744. <u>See Penson v. Ohio</u>, 488 U.S. \_\_\_\_\_, 109 S.Ct. \_\_\_\_\_, 102 L.Ed. 300 (1988) (discussing procedures required by <u>Anders</u>, and specifically noting that counsel and the reviewing court must independently find an appeal is <u>wholly</u> frivolous before the appeal may be considered on the merits without assistance of counsel). This alone should have precluded the First District from proceeding as required by Anders.

In <u>McCoy v. Court of Appeals</u>, 486 U.S. 429, 108 S.Ct. 1895, 100 L.Ed.2d 440 (1988), the court stated:

Only after such an evaluation [of the case] has led counsel to the conclusion that the appeal is "wholly frivolous" is counsel justified in making a motion to withdraw. This is the central teaching of <u>Anders</u>. [e.s.]

486 U.S. at 438-9, 100 L.Ed.2d at 453. The court further explained that "wholly frivolous" means that the appeal "lacks any [e.s.] basis in law or fact". Id. at note 10.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> In contrast to the First District's observation in footnote 1, the initial brief in <u>Fennell</u> does not expressly declare the evidentiary issue to be harmless error. At most, it implicitly concedes harmlessness by invoking <u>Anders</u>. Further, the State questions whether improper argument in an <u>Anders</u> brief can be obviated by such a concession.

Recent decisions by this Court echo the federal conclusion that <u>no</u> merit is a requisite for invoking <u>Anders</u> evaluation and review by the appellate court. Most notably, this Court has declared:

> If appellate counsel has already brought possible errors to the attention of the court, then there would be no need to file an <u>Anders brief</u>. The requirement in <u>Anders</u> of submitting a brief stating that the public defender has found no reversible error even worthy of good faith argument. . . [e.s.]

<u>State v. Causey</u>, 503 So.2d 321, 322 (Fla. 1987). Moreover, the <u>Causey</u> opinion, upon answering the question certified, requires the district courts to obtain briefs when issues arguable on the merits are discovered. Obviously, such appeals are no longer wholly frivolous. Similarly, in discussing the roles of counsel and reviewing courts under <u>Anders</u>, this Court noted that counsel's responsibility to present argument and points justifying the appeal arises when counsel has previously found "no merit in the appeal". <u>In Re Forrester</u>, 556 So.2d at 1116.

The State's third point is premised upon two related observations. First, there is nothing in <u>Anders</u>, its federal progeny, or its interpretation by this Court that justifies the First District's allowance of "mixed" <u>Anders</u> briefs; even mixed briefs that present argument on issues relating only to sentencing.<sup>11</sup> Second, assume Respondents' briefs to the First District contained argument only as to sentencing issues. Unless it were willing to order supplemental briefs, the First District

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> Technically, this issue is before the court only as to <u>Coupe</u> and <u>Williams</u>, since <u>Fennell</u> explicitly argued the propriety of admitting evidence as to use of aliases.

would implicitly agree with the (equally implicit) conclusion by counsel that there were no arguable issues as to conviction or voluntariness of pleas. <u>Anders</u> procedures would not be in order. The court would not conduct an independent review of the record.

The First District would allow an appellant to arque sentencing issues on the merits, yet obtain independent court review of the record by invoking Anders as to conviction. The challenged opinion belies this idea. It declares (p.4) that arguments as to the sufficiency of departure reasons will be considered "so substantive" that Anders review would not be justified. The State does not dispute that conclusion. However, the exception will create more problems than it solves. Tf departure-sufficiency arguments preclude Anders review, what about arguments as to the sufficiency of proof as to statutory requisites for sentencing as an habitual felony offender? What about arguments as to specificity of the jury's finding that a firearm was used, in order to impose the minimum mandatory sentence?

It is not legally necessary to allow argument on the merits of "sentencing errors" in an <u>Anders</u> brief. If appellate counsel is ineffective for not raising preserved sentencing errors on direct appeal, there is a remedy through state habeas corpus proceedings. <u>Smith v. State</u>, 400 So.2d 956, 960 (Fla. 1981). Also, if the sentence is illegal, in excess of that allowed by law, improperly calculated, etc., there are remedies under Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.800 and 3.850.

- 12 -

The First District's allowance of argument on sentencing errors in an <u>Anders</u> brief conflicts with section 924.06(3), Florida Statutes. That statute provides:

> (3) A defendant who pleads guilty or nolo contendere with no express reservation of the right to appeal shall have no right to a direct appeal. Such a defendant shall obtain review by means of collateral attack.

Coupe and Williams pled nolo contendere without reservation of issues. Consequently they waived appeal of matters arising before their pleas. <u>Robinson v. State</u>, 373 So.2d 898 (Fla. 1979) (construing the statute as "supporting a waiver of the right to review issues which arose from trial court rulings made prior to the entry of the plea"). That waiver is reinforced by the <u>Anders</u> declaration of no merit. Nevertheless, when directly appealed sentencing errors can accompany an <u>Anders</u> brief, the court is obligated to review the entire record to discern any arguable issues arising <u>before</u>, as well as after, the plea. In effect, the statutory waiver is nullified.

The statutory waiver need not be nullified. By rejecting so-called <u>Anders</u> briefs that include argument, the courts would be implicitly concluding that <u>Anders</u> procedures were not invoked. The duty to independently examine the record would not arise.

federal A prominent body of law habeas corpus categorically rejects "mixed" petitions. When a state prisoner seeks habeas relief through a petition containing a mixture of exhausted and non-exhausted claims, the entire petition Rose v. Lundy, 455 U.S. 509, 102 S.Ct. 1198, 71 dismissed. L.Ed.2d 379 (1982). The petitioner is not allowed to obtain federal relief on grounds not fairly presented to state courts, thereby getting the benefit of error previously undeclared.

Analogously, Respondents seek to benefit from "undeclared error". They file nominal <u>Anders</u> briefs, then argue sentencing issues on the merits. The sentencing arguments claim error for purposes of compelling appellate review, yet such error remains undeclared for purposes of triggering Anders procedures.

When it denied the State's motions to strike, the First District abused its discretion. Equally important, the court set ill-advised precedent for continued misapplication of <u>Anders</u>.

### B. Dual Representation

In all three cases, Respondents were authorized to submit <u>pro se</u> initial briefs. Their counsels had already submitted briefs containing argument on the merits. In effect, the court has authorized double-briefing on any issue. This is tantamount to dual representation, and is an abuse of discretion.

The abuse looms larger under the facts. In <u>Williams</u>, a <u>pro</u> <u>se</u> initial brief was authorized to be filed (App. C, p.25) even though the State had already answered the initial brief more than  $2\frac{1}{2}$  months earlier. When the <u>pro</u> <u>se</u> brief was not timely received, <sup>12</sup> the State moved to preclude its filing. (App. C, p.26-28). This motion was denied in the challenged order. Williams apparently still has authority to file a <u>pro</u> <u>se</u> initial

 $<sup>^{12}</sup>$  As of September 5, 1990, <u>pro</u> <u>se</u> briefs had not been received in any of the three cases.

brief, 8 months after counsel's initial brief was served [January 11, 1990].

In <u>Coupe</u>, a <u>pro</u> <u>se</u> initial brief was authorized to be filed within 30 days of the court's order dated April 26, 1990. (App. B, p.18). When the brief was not received, the State moved [June 11] to preclude its filing. (App. B, p.20-23). The State's motion was denied in the challenged opinion. Apparently, Coupe still may file his own brief more than 4 months after counsel's initial brief was served [April 20, 1990].

Fennell's situation is different only because of its recency. The State moved [June 14, 1990] to strike the <u>Anders</u> portion of the initial brief prepared by counsel. (App. D, p.18-23) [served June 11, 1990]. The challenged order denied the State's motion and authorized a <u>pro se</u> initial brief, without specifying a deadline (App. A, p.4).

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