IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

OCTI 9 1990

Deruty Clerk

STATE OF FLORIDA

Petitioner.

vs.

DAVID COUPE, et al.,

Respondent.

•

RESPONDENTS'BRIEF ON THE MERITS

BARBARA M. LINTHICUM PUBLIC DEFENDER SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

CASE NO. 76,483

KATHLEEN STOVER #513253
ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER
LEON COUNTY COURTHOUSE
FOURTH FLOOR NORTH
301 SOUTH MONROE STREET
TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32301
(904)488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER
RESPONDENTS COUPE
AND PENNELL

ISSUE PRESENTED (RESTATED)

WHETHER ARGUMENT ON MINOR SENTENCING MAT-TERS PRECLUDES ANDERS REVIEW PROCEDURES IN CRIMINAL APPEALS.

To put it simply, in the view of respondents COUPE and FENNELL, the issue before the court is whether the improper imposition of court costs may be raised in an Anders brief. The state, on the other hand, sees the issue as more complicated. This case also raises the issue of what constitutes a "wholly frivolous" appeal which triggers the appellate review procedures of Anders v. California, 386 U.S. 738, 87 S.Ct. 1396, 18 L.Ed.2d 493 (1967).

This is an appeal from the decision of the First District Court of Appeal in Coupe v. State, 564 So.2d 1199 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990), which certified the following as a question of great public importance:

What, if any, issues may be raised by counsel for appellant in an initial brief without losing appellant's right to the <u>Anders</u> procedure, including permission for <u>appellant</u> to serve his own pro se brief and an examination of the entire record by the appellate court for the existence of reversible error?

Each of the three respondents filed <u>Anders</u> briefs, each of which briefly argued a minor sentencing matter, such as the imposition of court costs without notice and hearing (Coupe and Fennell), the addition of a probation condition to the written order, which was not orally pronounced (Coupe), and the failure to enter a written guideline departure order contemporaneously

(Williams). The state moved to strike each <u>Anders</u> brief on the ground that by arguing any issue, the appeals were not wholly frivolous, and as they had some merit, <u>Anders</u> review was precluded.

Respondents agree that <u>Anders</u> and its progeny have used phrases such as "wholly frivolous" and "no merit" to describe the typical <u>Anders</u> case. No case has yet defined, however, exactly what constitutes a wholly frivolous appeal for purposes of triggering the Anders procedure. That is the issue here.

Respondents believe that, while there was no reason at the time it was first used to consider it so, the use of the no merit/wholly frivolous language was somewhat careless. In none of the cases cited by the state did the questioned language occur in the context now presented to this court. None of the cases cited by the state addressed the issue here of whether, in an appeal which is mostly without merit, but in which court costs have been improperly imposed, an Anders brief can be filed. Rather, in all the cases cited by the state, defense counsel took the position, justifiable or not, that the appeal was wholly without merit.

In its opinion below, the First District Court said:

It is obvious that there are countervailing policy arguments which can be made on behalf of both parties. The state contends that the rationale of Anders is clear enough and applies only where counsel for appellant can make no argument for reversible error. Appellants argue the unfairness of losing the right to Anders review simply because counsel is able to identify some relatively minor sentencing issue.

Coupe, 564 So.2d at 1200. Without much in the way of explanation, the First District took the position of respondents, that is, raising minor sentencing issues does not preclude the filing of an Anders brief.

The state has two main complaints to filing an Anders brief which raises any sort of meritorious issue. The state called the first "abuse of discretion" (Petitioner's Brief on Merits (PBM), 9). Respondents prefer to call it the judicial economy issue. The state's second complaint concerns dual representation.

Taking the second one first, the state complains that permitting respondents to raise a meritorious issue in an <u>Anders</u> brief and also permitting them, in accordance with <u>Anders</u> procedure, to file pro se briefs amounts to dual representation.

Respondents contend strongly that this is a false issue.

First, as the state noted, no rule, statute or caselaw forbids dual representation. See State v. Tait, 387 So.2d 338 (Fla. 1980). On the other hand, defendants have no right to dual representation. Whether dual representation is truly a problem which needs to be addressed by this court would depend in substantial part on the factual question of how often defendants file pro se briefs after their appointed attorneys have filed Anders briefs. If only one Anders defendant in ten files a pro se brief, this court may still wish to address the issue, but it would hardly be as compelling a problem as it would be if nearly every Anders defendant filed a pro se brief. The record below does not contain any information from which could

be determined what percentage of <u>Anders</u> briefs are in fact followed by pro se briefs. It is noteworthy that no pro se brief has been received in any of the three cases herein appealed (PBM-14, n.12). Respondents believe that the district court has the authority to control the timing and number of briefs to be filed, and that such control is appropriately exerted on a case-by-case basis.

The far more troublesome problem here is the judicial economy issue. When a merit brief is filed, the appellate court may rely on defense counsel's assessment of which issues are meritorious and review only the issue or issues argued by defense counsel. On the other hand, when an Anders brief is filed, the appellate court is obliged to review the entire record for errors. State v. Causey, 503 So.2d 321 (Fla. 1987). All things being equal, an Anders brief is naturally going to be more trouble for the court because it is obliged to review the entire record for error which may not have been previously identified. On the other hand, the court's interest in judicial economy must be balanced against the defendant's right to meaningful appellate review. At some level, this issue will reach the level of whether the defendant is receiving constitutional due process, and that is the level at which the court must address the issue.

Far from wasting judicial resources by pointing a minor, but meritorious, issue in an <u>Anders</u> brief, counsel is attempting to conserve judicial resources while at the same time preserving respondents' opportunity to argue any substantive

issues of merit they might find, subject to the thorough judicial scrutiny the appellate court properly gives no merit briefs. Further, as counsel is obliged to point out any issues of possible merit, he or she does only what is required by pointing out these minor sentencing issues.

This truth must be addressed - while it is inappropriate for a court, for example, to impose costs without notice, and this should be corrected, it is a small comfort to the defendant to raise the issue of court costs, but thereby, to deny him the independent judicial review that comes with a "no merit" brief, and deny him the opportunity to raise any issue that counsel might miss. The issues that really matter to a defendant are those directly related to the judgment and sentence, and it is to those issues that the Anders procedure is directed. The interests of judicial economy cannot usurp respondents' right to procedural due process, and they respectfully request that this court permit their Anders briefs to stand.

As for the specific issues raised in the Anders briefs:

Court costs (Coupe and Fennell). It is improper to impose court costs without notice and hearing. Jenkins v. State, 444

So.2d 947 (Fla. 1984), but see Rhodes v. State, So.2d

, 15 FLW D2331 (Fla. 1st DCA Sept. 12, 1990) (notice to invoke filed). At least one district court, however, has expressly found the issue to be a frequent, but not significant, appellate issue. Riley v. State, 534 So.2d 927 (Fla. 4th DCA 1988) (assessment of costs without notice "is frequently"

one of several points on appeal these days and we suggest it should not be.") The First District Court has previously addressed the issue when it was raised in an Anders brief, thereby implicitly approving the practice of raising the issue of costs in an Anders brief. Ayers v. State, 538 So.2d 545 (Fla. 1st DCA 1989); Christie v. State, 538 So.2d 544 (Fla. 1st DCA 1989).

The state's proposed solution to the court cost problem is to allow the issue to be raised in 3.800 and 3.850 motions, but not in Anders briefs. Aside from the unwieldiness of the state's proposal, which would add another layer of post-conviction review for very routine matters, there is the additional problem that at least one district court has said that court costs are not a sentence, which principle would make the issue hard to raise as a sentencing error. See Johnson v. State, 502 So.2d 1291 (Fla. 1st DCA 1987).

Discrepancy in written probation condition (Coupe). A probation condition appears in the written order that Coupe is to pay \$1 to First Step, Inc. The judge did not announce this condition orally. This is error. In Rowland v. State, 548 So.2d 812, 814 (Fla. 1st DCA 1989), the First District Court said:

The inclusion of special conditions of probation in a written order that were not orally pronounced at the sentencing hearing mandates a reversal and remand for correction of the written order to conform to the oral pronouncement. Accord, Smith v. State 558 So.2d 534 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990). In effect, however, this probation condition is similar to the imposition of costs, in that it imposes a financial burden upon Coupe. In fact, it results in a smaller financial burden than the court costs. The arguments which apply to the court cost issue essentially apply here also.

Use of aliases (Fennell). In Fennell's initial brief, counsel argued that a witness was improperly questioned about Fennell's use of aliases. The state argued that the discussion of the alias examination raised a meritorious issue, which precluded the filing of an Anders brief.

The state's complaint is inexplicable in light of Forrester's admonition to "draw attention to anything in the record that might arguably support the appeal in order to assist the court in determining whether counsel conducted the required detailed review of the case" (emphasis in original). Forrester v. State, 542 So.2d 1358 (Fla. 1st DCA 1989), approved in part, quashed in part, 556 So.2d 1114 (Fla. 1990). In making some argument concerning the use of aliases, appellate counsel was merely complying with the admonition of Forrester.

Perhaps the state's complaint is merely one of style.

Perhaps it would have satisfied the state had counsel made more overt assurances that the issue was not meritorious, rather than arguing as though it were reversible error. It is not clear how, or whether, the state thinks defense counsel could comply with the <u>Forrester</u> requirement to draw attention to anything that might "arguably support the appeal," if, whenever

this is done, the state will complain that a meritorious issue was raised, precluding the filing of an <u>Anders</u> brief. The alias issue was raised only to comply with <u>Forrester</u>'s admonition.

Contemporaneity of written reasons for departure (Williams). This is the Ree issue. Ree v. State, 565 So.2d 1329 (15 FLW S395) (Fla. 1990) (decision on rehearing). Respondents COUPE and FENNELL do not in any way purport to argue this point on behalf of respondent WILLIAMS. Quite to the contrary, they believe a Ree issue is not properly raised in an Anders brief because it is a meritorious issue. They believe they must address the Ree issue in the Anders context, however, because they see the issue now before this court as very narrow, essentially a court cost issue, while the state sees it as, at least potentially, very broad, and points to the Ree issue as proof of its position (PBM-6, n.5: "[e]xcept for its value as an example of Anders appeal procedures used by the First District, Williams could be severed and remanded for consistent proceedings").

Coupe and Fennell believe the First District's joinder of a Ree issue in this appeal stems, at heart, from the district court's misapprehension of Ree and its consequences, both in general and as to prospectivity.

In Ree, the Florida Supreme Court held that when the trial court departs from the presumptive guideline sentence, the written order must be entered contemporaneously with the sentence. Ree itself does not expressly state what relief is to

be granted a defendant whose departure sentence was not supported by a contemporaneous written order. Coupe and Fennell believe the key to the relief to be granted is contained in the supreme court's decision Pope v. State, 561 So.2d 554 (Fla. 1990). In Pope, this court said that, where the trial court failed to enter written reasons, on remand, it could impose only a guidelines sentence and could not again depart. Coupe and Fennell believe this policy will be extended to written reasons which are untimely under Ree.

A related issue is what <u>Ree</u> means when it says it is prospective only. This issue is presently pending a decision on jurisdiction in this court. <u>Brown v. State</u>, 565 So.2d 369 (15 FLW D2015) (Fla. 1st DCA 1990), pending decision on jurisdiction, no. 76,616. Traditionally, "prospective only" decisions applied to "pipeline" cases. Pipeline cases are cases which are not final, by trial or on appeal. <u>Reed v. State</u>, 565 So.2d 708 (15 FLW D1867) (Fla. 5th DCA 1990); <u>Smith v. State</u>, 496 So.2d 983 (Fla. 3d DCA 1986).

The state argued in a footnote (PBM-6, n.5) that this issue had been resolved against Williams, but this is an exaggeration, as the <u>Brown</u> decision is contrary to extant caselaw defining what prospective application means, and <u>Brown</u> is presently pending before this court.

Of course, this court need not decide the <u>Ree</u> issue in this appeal. It is enough that, were respondents correct on reading <u>Ree</u> and <u>Pope</u> together, and on the traditional view of prospectivity, then the relief to Williams on the <u>Ree</u> issue

would be remand for resentencing within the guidelines. This would be substantial relief for Williams, whose departure sentence was life imprisonment. If the district court shared this view of the caselaw, it could hardly find Ree to be an appropriate issue to raise in an Anders brief. Respondents believe, therefore, that the district court must have a much different view of the issue, one in which Williams is probably entitled to no substantial relief.

To summarize, while the state sees the issue as much broader, respondents Coupe and Fennell see the issue here as whether the improper imposition of court costs can be raised in an Anders brief. In their view, Coupe's probation condition, the imposition of yet another cost, is legally indistinguishable from the court costs issue. Moreover, the additional issue raised in Fennell's brief was not intended to raise a meritorious issue, but merely to comply with the admonition of Forrester to draw attention to anything that might "arguably support the appeal." Lastly, Coupe and Fennell believe a Ree issue is not properly raised in an Anders brief, and thus, that Williams was improperly joined with their cases.

Respondents believe the problem of dual representation is a false issue, that relatively few defendants file pro se appellate briefs, that the state has failed to demonstrate otherwise, that the district court has the authority to control the timing and number of briefs to be filed, and that such control is appropriately exerted on a case-by-case basis.

The issues that really matter to a defendant are those directly related to the judgment and sentence, and it is to those issues that the <u>Anders</u> procedure is directed. As for the heart of the matter here, the issue of judicial economy, respondents believe it is a reasonable balancing of their constitutional right to appellate due process against the judiciary's interest in orderly and not-unduly-delayed appeals, that the issue of court costs, and similar minor sentencing issues, may be raised in <u>Anders</u> briefs. The interests of judicial economy cannot usurp respondents' right to procedural due process, and they respectfully request that this court permit their <u>Anders</u> briefs to stand.

V CONCLUSION

Based upon the foregoing argument, reasoning, and citation of authority, respondents request that this Court answer the certified question by permitting minor sentencing issues to be raised in an <u>Anders</u> brief. With some reservation due to the wide array of cases in which <u>Anders</u> briefs are filed, and assuming representation of a variety of interests in the decision-making process, respondents do not oppose the state's suggestion for rulemaking procedures to cover <u>Anders</u> procedures.

Respectfully submitted,

BARBARA M. LINTHICUM PUBLIC DEFENDER SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

KATHLEEN STOVER

Fla. Bar No. 0513253
Assistant Public Defender
Leon County Courthouse
301 S. Monroe - 4th Floor North
Tallahassee, Florida 32301
(904) 488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENTS COUPE AND FENNELL